IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-694

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 94-CF-9776

MICHAEL BERNARD BELL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

FRANK J. TASSONE

Fla. Bar No. 165611 SUSANNE K. SICHTA Fla. Bar No. 59108 Tassone, Sichta, & Dreicer, LLC. 1833 Atlantic Blvd. Jacksonville, FL 32207 (904) 396-3344 Fax (904) 396-3349

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Bell's successive motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.850 and 3.851.

Michael Bell will be referred to as "Bell" or "Appellant." Frank J. Tassone and Susanne K. Sichta will be referred to as "undersigned counsel."

Citations to the record on appeal from the direct appeal will be designated with the Volume number, "R" and the appropriate page number, e.g. (1 R 1.) Citations to the record on appeal from the initial 3.851 will be designated with the Volume number "PCR" and the appropriate page number, e.g. (1 PCR 1.) Citations to record on appeal generated for review of the instant successive 3.851 will be designated as the successive post-conviction record with the appropriate page number, e.g. (1 S-PCR 1.) Citations to the one-volume *supplemental* record for the instant successive 3.851 will be designated (Supp. S-PCR 1.)

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Michael Bell is a death sentenced individual. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will determine, in part, whether this man lives or dies. This Court customarily grants oral argument in capital cases in a similar procedural posture pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.142(a)(4). Mr. Bell requests from this court the opportunity to discuss the issues contained in this brief in oral argument.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The legal issues presented in this appeal consist of two-parts: The first is the determination of whether <u>Porter</u> must be applied retroactively. That issue is a question of law which must be reviewed *de novo*. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 883 So. 2d 766, 772 (Fla. 2004). The second is the application of <u>Porter</u> to Michael Bell's case. In that regard, deference is given only to historical facts. All other facts must be viewed as Mr. Bell's jury would have viewed them. <u>Porter v. McCollum</u>, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September, 1994, Michael Bell was charged with two counts of firstdegree murder. He was tried before a jury and convicted on March 9, 1995. Bell's penalty phase occurred on March 17, 1995. On June 2, 1995 Bell was sentenced to death for each count upon the jury's recommendations. This Court affirmed the conviction(s) and sentence(s) in <u>Bell v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1997) on October 22, 1997. Bell filed a Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on February 23, 1998. <u>Bell v. Florida</u>, 522 U.S. 1123 (1998)(S-PCR 27). On June 25, 1998, this Court tolled Bell's time to file a 3.851 motion until October 1, 1998. (S-PCR 27.)

On May 27, 1999, Mr. Bell filed a motion for post-conviction relief that the circuit court summarily denied. <u>State v. Bell</u>, No. 94-9776 CF (Fla. 4th Cir. Ct. order filed Jan. 13, 2000). Following oral argument, this Court reversed the trial court's summary denial and remanded the case for evidentiary hearing. <u>Bell v.</u> <u>State</u>, 790 So. 2d 1101 (2001).

On October 3, 2001, the circuit court granted Bell's motion to proceed *pro se* in postconviction proceedings. The circuit court appointed counsel to serve in a stand-by capacity. Bell then filed an amended *pro se* motion for post-conviction relief, raising twenty-nine claims.

The circuit court held evidentiary hearings on fourteen of the claims raised

in Bell's 3.850 motions on April 8 - 10, 2002. Bell called 36 witnesses to testify in support of his claims. <u>Bell v. State</u>, 965 So. 2d 48, 54 (Fla. 2007). Bell requested the appointment of a mental health expert for this hearing, but was denied this opportunity by the trial court. (3 PCR 567.)

The circuit court denied Mr. Bell's postconviction motion. <u>Id.</u> at 55. Bell appealed to this Court, raising twenty-four issues argued below.¹ Bell also

¹ (1) Bell's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the State's comments that Dale George pled guilty to being an accessory to this crime; (2) counsel was ineffective for improperly questioning Margo Bell at the penalty phase regarding the defendant's prior conviction for robbery; (3) counsel was ineffective for advising Bell not to testify; (4) counsel was ineffective in connection with the prosecutor's comments that the State does not seek the death penalty in every firstdegree murder case; (5) counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate and obtain the recorded statement of Ericka Williams; (6) counsel was ineffective for failing to produce Andre Mayes as a defense witness; (7) counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present a credible defense; (8) counsel was ineffective for making improper closing arguments; (9) counsel was ineffective for allowing the defendant to be shackled in front of jurors; (10) counsel was ineffective in connection with the mental health experts' failure to address all mental competency considerations required by the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and in connection with the lack of expert assistance with mental health mitigation issues; (11) counsel was ineffective for conceding guilt and CCP; (12) counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's improper remarks to jurors; (13) counsel was ineffective for failing to object and request a curative jury instruction for the State's incorrect statement of the advisory sentencing procedure; (14) counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments that diminished the jury's sentencing responsibility, in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); (15) counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's peremptory strike of a prospective juror who had conscientious objections to the death penalty; (16) the State violated Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), by not disclosing prison and law enforcement records of the victim; (17) counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare for the testimony of Mark Richardson; (18) counsel was ineffective for

petitioned this Court for a writ of habeas corpus, raising eight issues.² This Court affirmed the trial court's determinations on post-conviction appeal and denied Bell's petition for writ of habeas corpus. <u>Id.</u> at 80. On June 22, 2007, Bell filed a *pro se* motion for rehearing. On August 29, 2007, this Court struck his *pro se* pleading as unauthorized because Bell was represented by counsel. On September 5, 2007, Bell filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. This petition was denied on November 5, 2007. <u>Bell v. Florida</u>, 552 U.S. 1011 (2007).

failing to investigate and prepare for the testimony of Charles Jones; (19) counsel was ineffective for failing to call Andre Mayes to impeach the testimony of Charles Jones; (20) counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare for the testimony of Dale George and Ericka Williams; (21) counsel was ineffective for failing to present any penalty-phase evidence other than the testimony of defendant's mother; (22) counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure that the prospective jurors were sworn; (23) counsel was ineffective for a number of cumulative errors; and (24) the circuit court erred in finding a number of issues to be procedurally barred. (1 R 111-2 R 405.) <u>Bell</u>, 965 So. 2d at 54 n. 5.

² (1) appellate counsel was ineffective for improperly arguing Bell's claim on direct appeal that Bell should have been permitted to represent himself at trial; (2) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise on direct appeal the erroneous excusal for cause of a prospective juror by the trial court; (3) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise on direct appeal the trial court's error in permitting Bell to wear his jail uniform in front of the jury; (4) appellate counsel had a conflict of interest which rendered his assistance ineffective; (5) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise on direct appeal the issue of the trial court's jury instructions; (6) appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to argue on direct appeal that comments made in voir dire were reversible error; (7) Bell's death sentence is unconstitutional under <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); and (8) the trial court gave unconstitutional jury instructions. <u>Id</u>. at 54, n. 6

Bell submitted a *pro se* Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence under Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.851 with the trial court on December 2, 2010, alleging that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase of his trial "in light of the change of law in <u>Porter v. McCollum</u>, 130 S. Ct. 447." (1 PCR 1-9.) On January 5, 2011, the trial court ordered the state to respond. (1 PCR 10-11.) The state responded on January 14, 2011. (1 PCR 18-38.) The trial court held a case management conference on January 24, 2011. (S-PCR 68.) The trial court filed a March 7, 2011 Order (S-PCR 41-58) and March 23, 2011 Amended Order summarily denying Bell's Successive Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence (S-PCR 59-77.)

Undersigned was appointed to represent Mr. Bell on the appeal of the trial court's denial of his Successive Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence on March 23, 2011. (S-PCR 76.) This appeal follows.

Mr. Bell is currently incarcerated in Union Correctional Institution in Raiford, Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying facts of the crime in this case are set forth in two prior opinions of this Court. See Bell, 965 So. 2d at 52; Bell, 699 So. 2d at 675-76.

Michael Bell was represented by Richard Nichols at trial. Although Mr. Bell underwent a court ordered, non-confidential evaluation by Dr. Miller for

6

competency purposes, Mr. Nichols did not seek the appointment of an expert to assist Mr. Bell in his penalty phase proceedings. Nichols never consulted a mental health expert regarding the development of mitigation and/or whether Bell had any mental disorders, organic brain damage, or any other mental or physical deficiencies that would be relevant to a possible penalty phase statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. Nichols did retain a mitigation specialist to assist with Bell's penalty phase. Nichols did not request that the court appoint co- counsel although penalty phase counsel is routinely appointed in capital cases.

During Mr. Bell's penalty phase, the state called John Lipsey, a security guard at the lounge where the crime occurred, to testify that the masked gunman, (Mr. Bell), also shot at the lounge building and into a house next door to the lounge. (S-PCR 60.) The state introduced a copy of Bell's judgment and sentence for a prior armed robbery from May 7, 1990. (S-PCR 61.) The state rested.

In penalty phase Mr. Nichols called Margo Bell, Bell's mother, who testified that she was aware of a feud between Michael Bell and Theodore Wright and that because of the feud she remained at home because there were threats on her life over the span of a year. (S-PCR 61.) She also testified that West and Wright threatened to kill Bell and that they had once shot at Bell but killed a bystander by accident. (S-PCR 61.) Nichols did not ask Ms. Bell any questions related to her son's upbringing or background. (S-PCR 61.) On cross examination by the state, Bell's mother stated that he was a good man, mature, and responsible, but a victim of circumstance. (S-PCR 61.) Mr. Nichols did not present any additional witnesses.

Bell, in his October 1, 2001 *pro se* Amended 3.850 Motion, raised several ineffective assistance of counsel claims relating to the failure of counsel to investigate and present evidence in penalty phase in support of statutory and non-statutory mitigation. Bell stated that counsel was ineffective in failing to request and present the "age" statutory mitigator; Bell stated that counsel was ineffective in failing to request in failing to request and present evidence in support of the "extreme emotional disturbance" statutory mitigator; Bell stated that counsel failed to effectively utilize a mental health expert in his case. (1 PCR 119, 140-142, 152-156.)

In an effort to substantiate the various ineffective assistance of counsel claims for failure to find and present statutory and non-statutory mental mitigation, Bell filed a motion with the trial court to enlist the assistance of a mental health expert for post-conviction proceedings, stating, in relevant part:

(4) The primary issues set for an Evidentiary Hearing, before this court, is the CLAIM I (N) that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to provide Defendant mental health evaluation [sic] and CLAIM XI – that trial [counsel] provided ineffective assistance when he failed to adequately investigate the case and prepare defendant's case, for failing to sufficiently challenge the state's case at trial, and for neglecting to present further mitigation evidence on Defendant's behalf.

(5) ... Mr. Nichols did not give Dr. Miller any information about my

childhood abuse, drug usage [sic] parents, poverty, educational deficiency, psychological evaluation as a child, did not ask for an independent mental evaluation, or request to look for mitigate[ing] factors, thereby material[ly] depriving me of a complete evaluation.

With the appointment of this expert, he will be able to properly evaluate as required in Fla. Rule C.P. 3.211 and evaluate me on mitigating circumstances. An adequate evaluation would include the following: (1) Assessment by a psychiatrist who had reviewed in advance records of depositions, sworn statements, and DOC records, and family interviews. (2) Organic brain impairment should be screened by a neuropsychologist. Standard psychological testing should be performed as well as neuropsychological evaluation. (3) MRI, CT Scan and EEG if recommended.

With the appointment of this expert, he will be able to conduct a[n] evaluation and/or tests as followed to support my evidentiary hearing issues of the trial counsel failure to investigate mitigating circumstances: WAIS, MRI, CT Scan, EEG, neuropsychological evaluation for potential organic brain impairment, determine my IQ performance...

(3 PCR 530-31.) The trial court issued a three-sentence Order denying Bell's

request for a mental health expert:

This matter is before the Court on defendant's "Motion to Appointment of Expert Witness" filed on January 31, 2002.

In the instant Motion, defendant requests that an expert be appointed to conduct an evaluation of him "to support [his] evidentiary hearing issues of the trial counsel'[s] failure to investigate mitigating circumstances..." This Court declines to provide defendant with an expert witness for the evidentiary hearing in that the results of the evaluation would not be relevant to the issues defendant has presented in his 3.850 Motion.

(3 PCR 567)(insertions original to Order.)

At the April 8th-10th 2002 postconviction evidentiary hearing, Mr. Bell

presented evidence challenging, among other things, his sentence in light of alleged failures of Mr. Nichols to investigate or present significant, available mitigation and utilize a mental health expert.

Testimony at Michael Bell's 3.850 evidentiary hearing revealed that he presented Nichols with a witness list, yet Nichols did not contact most of these proposed witnesses prior to trial. (8 PCR 1537-1538.)

Nichols did not contact Anthony Ammons for the penalty phase of Michael Bell's trial. (6 PCR 1108.) Bell, in his evidentiary hearing, called Mr. Ammons, a Jacksonville community leader who owns a successful mortgage company; is a board member at The Help Center, a nonprofit organization which assists homeless individuals; coaches basketball and baseball; served as deacon for the First Baptist Church of Mandarin for eight years; serves in the prison ministry; and is the vice president of the alumni association at Morehouse College. (6 PCR 1103-04.) Mr. Ammons stated that he has known Michael Bell all of Bell's life. Both men were born in Joliet Illinois-Ammons babysat Bell. (6 PCR 1105.) Ammons testified that it was difficult for him to witness Bell's childhood because, among other things, Bell's father had a substance abuse problem, was abusive to Bell's mother and "quite abusive to [Bell] and [Bell's] brother Gregory." (6 PCR 1105-06.) Ammons stated that he ended up with better "morals and values" than Bell, because:

I think that by the grace of God I've had a better environment, in my opinion, than [Michael Bell] had. Both my parents were around me until I was a grown man, and I had boundaries, I had direction, I had discipline. And I think that those are some of the things that, quite honestly, I don't think [Bell] had.

(6 R 1106-07.) Ammons stated he would have testified on Bell's behalf had Nichols contacted him at the time of trial. (6 PCR 1108.)

Mr. Nichols did not contact Michael Bell's brother, Gregory Bell, for penalty phase. (6 PCR 1135.) At Michael Bell's 3.850 evidentiary hearing Gregory Bell testified that Michael Bell witnessed the shooting death of their younger brother, Lamar "Peewee" Bell, and that this event was devastating to Michael. (6 PCR 1126-1127.) Gregory Bell, who was raised in the same household as Michael Bell, also testified that their father was physically abusive to their mother, Margo Bell, and physically "disciplined" his children. (6 PCR 1134-1135). Gregory Bell testified that when Bell was a child, he suffered a traumatic head injury resulting in black and blue bruising across his entire forehead, memory loss, and apparent loss of consciousness. (6 PCR 1125-1126.) Additionally, Gregory Bell testified that his brother was a "helpful," "giving," and "openhearted" person. (6 PCR. 1126). Gregory Bell stated that had Nichols contacted at the time of Bell's trial, he would have provided the same information. (6 PCR 1135.)

Margo Bell, Michael Bell's mother, also testified at his evidentiary hearing.

(6 PCR 1139.) Bell's mother testified that attorney Nichols never contacted her prior to her appearance at her son's penalty phase. (6 PCR 1148 - 1150.) At evidentiary hearing, Bell's mother testified that he had a difficult time coping with his brother, "Peewee's" death. (6 PCR 1146.) She testified that Bell was examined by a psychologist as a child to find out what could be done to help with his difficulties at school. (6 PCR 1146-47.) She stated that Bell suffered from a concussion while playing football when he was 12 or 13 years old. (6 PCR 1147.)

Additionally, Mr. Bell's mother provided insight into his home life as a child. She testified that Bell's father was a heroin addict. (6 PCR 1148.) She indicated that she and Bell's father "had a few, a lot of problems, physical and mentally," that Bell's father was "very" abusive to her when Bell was a child. (6 PCR. 1148.) The physical abuse was so severe that she received medical treatment for her injuries on at least one occasion, though she tried to hide the abuse from people. (6 PCR 1148.) She said that her children witnessed the abuse. (6 PCR 1160.) She further testified that after she left Bell's father, she had a "rough" time raising three boys by herself, and that she was rarely home, sometimes working two jobs to support her family. (6 PCR 1148-49.) Ms. Bell admitted that she moved Bell and his brothers from "place to place" and "school to school," and exposed her children to a "drug environment." (6 PCR. 1149.) Bell's mother informed the court that Bell had to "raise himself." (6 PCR 1149.)

Despite Bell's difficult childhood and circumstances, his mom described him as somebody who was "very considerate," helpful to others, and "very good" and "very loving" to his daughter. (6 PCR 1147.) She stated that he was involved with the Bethel Baptist Church in Jacksonville. (6 PCR 1149-50.)

Dr. Miller, the psychiatric expert who was appointed in Michael Bell's pretrial proceedings for competency purposes only, testified at evidentiary hearing. Through Dr. Miller's testimony it was revealed that Nichols did not obtain Dr. Miller's hand-written notes regarding Dr. Miller's competency evaluation prior to trial. (7 PCR 1272.) Dr. Miller stated that he believes he "conferred" with Nichols some four months after his competence evaluation and admitted that Nichols did not provide him with any background information or collateral documentation for use in Bell's mental health evaluation. (7 PCR 1272-73.) Dr. Miller did not, nor was he asked to evaluate Mr. Bell for mitigation purposes. Dr. Miller conceded that information he collected to determine whether Bell was competent to proceed pertaining to Bell's history, family and social background, alcohol and drug use, psychiatric record, and his juvenile and adult criminal record, were gleaned only from Bell's self-reports. (7 PCR 1282-83; 7 PCR 1273; 5 PCR 829.) Dr. Miller admitted that it would have been "logical" for Nichols to provide background information about Michael Bell's life. (7 PCR 1272.) Dr. Miller stated that "normally," "Family members might call me and hope to supply information or try

to supply information, detectives, investigators in the cases sometimes have contact with me, attorney's offices sometimes contact me." (7 PCR 1272-73.) However, Dr. Miller did not gather information from any of these sources in Mr. Bell's case. 3

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