IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL BERNARD BELL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-694

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The collateral court correctly found that Bell's successive The successive motion, filed some 12 motion is time barred. years after Bell's convictions and sentences became final did not fall within any exception to the one year limitation period in Rule 3.851(d)(1), Florida Rules of forth Procedure. Although Bell purports to rely on an exception to the one year limitation period that would allow a successive motion to be filed if it were based on new constitutional law that had already been declared retroactive at the time Bell filed his motion, Bell met neither prerequisite. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) is not new law. Instead, Porter is a case in which the United States Supreme Court applied its 1984 decision in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) to the unique facts of Mr. Porter's case. Even if it were new law, it had not already been declared retroactive at the time Bell filed his motion. Accordingly, it is not appropriately or timely brought in a successive motion for post-conviction relief.

The collateral court also correctly found Bell's motion was without merit. The United States Supreme Court's decision in

Porter turned on two powerful pieces of evidence that Porter presented at a post-conviction evidentiary hearing; significant mental mitigation and Porter's heroic combat service during the Korean War. Bell had neither. Indeed, the only uniform that Bell wore before the murder was a prison uniform. Bell had been out of prison only a few months when he murdered Jimmy West and Tamecka Smith. The collateral court committed no error in finding that the United States Supreme Court's decision in Porter did not compel, or even suggest, a different result in Bell's case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN PORTER V. McCOLLUM ALLOWS BELL TO RE-LITIGATE, IN A SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, A CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL THAT HAS ALREADY BEEN REJECTED BY THIS COURT ON THE MERITS.²

In this claim, Bell seeks to re-litigate his claim that trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase of his capital trial. Some four years ago, this Court rejected this same claim in Bell v. State, 965 So.2d 48, 73-75 (Fla. 2007). Bell suggests he is, nevertheless, allowed to raise this same claim again because the United States Supreme Court determined in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009), that the Florida Supreme Court has, "in a long line of Florida cases," improperly applied Strickland's prejudice prong in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. (IB at 44).

Bell also claims, as sub-issue, that the collateral court erred by preventing him from utilizing a mental health expert. This claim was properly raised in Bell's appeal from the denial of his initial motion for post-conviction relief. Bell is not entitled to re-litigate this claim in a successive motion for post-conviction relief.

In his brief, Bell compares his case with that of Ronnie Ferrell, a case in which this Court affirmed the collateral court's order granting Ferrell a new penalty phase. While Bell claims this Court has consistently applied <u>Strickland</u> incorrectly in every other capital case, Bell avers this Court

The collateral court properly denied Bell's successive motion for post-conviction relief. This is so for several reasons.

First, Bell's motion was untimely. Bell chose to raise this claim in a successive motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Having chosen that avenue, Bell is required to comply with the rule.

Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure sets forth a one year limitation period in which a capital defendant may file a motion for post-conviction relief. The period begins to run on the day a defendant's conviction becomes final. Rule

got it right in Ferrell. Bell asks this Court to rule consistently with its decision in Ferrell. There are many distinguishing factors that sets Bell's case apart from the Ferrell case. Ferrell was not the shooter, Bell was the lone gunman, Ferrell's vote was 7-5, Bell's 12-0, Bell killed two people, Ferrell was found guilty of murdering one. Mr. Nichols was alive and testified at Bell's evidentiary hearing but was dead by the time of Ferrell's evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, Mr. Nichols was unable to testify at Ferrell's hearing that he fully discussed mitigation evidence with Ferrell but he freely and voluntarily waived it. In Ferrell's case, the collateral court granted his post-conviction motion as to the penalty phase in Bell's case, the collateral court denied it. Given the many factors distinguishing Bell from Ferrell, the Ferrell case is not a comparator.

Bell's latest motion is successive because Bell already had litigated one full round of post-conviction claims that were denied on the merits and then affirmed on appeal.

3.851(d)(1)(A), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. In Bell's case, Bell's conviction became final on February 23, 1998, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review from his direct appeal. Bell v. Florida, 521 U.S. 1123 (1998).

Rule 3.851(d) provides that <u>no</u> (emphasis mine) motion for post-conviction relief may be filed or considered if it is filed outside the one year time limitation unless it falls within one of three narrow exceptions. One of these, and the one which Bell purported to invoke before the collateral court below, is found in Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

This exception provides that a defendant may file an out of time motion for post-conviction relief if the claim is based on a new retroactive fundamental constitutional right that was not established within the one year limitation period set forth in Rule 3.851(d)(1). On the face of the rule, there are two essential prerequisites to filing an out of time motion for post-conviction relief: (1) a new fundamental constitutional right has been established and (2) the new fundamental

For the most part, a new fundamental constitutional right for the purposes of Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), comes as a result of new case law from the United States Supreme Court. (e.g. Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the case in which the United States Supreme Court determined that a person who commits a murder before the age of 18 cannot be executed).

constitutional right has already been held to be retroactive to cases on collateral review.

Bell's Porter claim is untimely because Bell can meet neither pre-requisite of Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) to overcome the one year limitation period imposed by Rule 3.851. First, Porter is not a case that establishes a new fundamental constitutional The "constitutional right" at issue in Porter is a defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel. before Porter, the fundamental constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel was established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Likewise, in Strickland, the United States Supreme Court outlined a two-pronged test to be applied in analyzing such claims. On its face Porter does not, and does not even purport to, establish a new constitutional right.

In <u>Porter</u>, the United States Supreme Court, per curiam, reversed the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Citing to <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, the United States Supreme Court found it was objectively unreasonable for the Florida Supreme Court to conclude there was no reasonable probability Porter's death sentence would have been different if the sentencing judge and jury had heard the significant mitigation evidence that Porter's

counsel neither uncovered nor presented; most importantly Porter's compelling combat service in Korea during the Korean conflict for which he was decorated. See Reed v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16 (11th Cir. 2010) (noting that "the crux of counsel's deficient performance in Porter was the failure to investigate and present Porter's compelling military history.").

Before <u>Porter</u>, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel claims were governed by a two-pronged test outlined in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). After <u>Porter</u>, a claim that counsel was ineffective in violation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel remains governed by a two-pronged test outlined in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

Even a cursory reading of <u>Porter</u> reveals that the United States Supreme Court changed nothing about <u>Strickland</u>. Nor did <u>Porter</u> establish the Florida Supreme Court's analysis of Bell's claims was incorrect. Instead, the United States Supreme Court ruled, simply, that both the collateral court and this Court got it wrong in Porter's individual case.

Even if Bell could show <u>Porter</u> was "new law", which he cannot, Bell's motion would still be untimely because Bell

cannot show that <u>Porter</u> had already been held retroactive to cases already final at the time <u>Porter</u> was decided. As noted above, Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) provides an exception to the one year limitation period when "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively."

The use of the term "has been held" is significant. This language means that in order to file an out of time successive motion for post-conviction relief, the new law upon which the defendant stakes his claim must have already been declared retroactive. Chandler v. Crosby, 916 So.2d 728 (Fla. 2005) (Wells, J. concurring specially) (noting that an untimely motion filed pursuant to Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B) must assert the new constitutional right upon which he relies has been held to apply retroactively in a case decided before [emphasis mine] the motion was filed in order for the motion to be considered timely filed); Sims v. State, 753 So.2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000)(rules use of past tense in a rule is not happenstance, instead use of the past tense means something has already happened). See also Tyler v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656 (2001)(holding that use of past tense in federal statute regarding successive federal habeas

petitions requires Court to hold new rule retroactive before it can be relied upon).

Bell has not alleged, nor can he show that, <u>Porter</u> had already been declared to be retroactive by either the United States Supreme Court, the Florida Supreme Court or indeed any Court, at the time he filed his motion. As such, Bell's motion is facially untimely.

A defendant whose litigation is already in successive post-conviction land is not without remedy if his claim is truly premised on a new constitutional right that was not established until after his first round of post-conviction litigation was completed. If the new law is declared retroactive, a defendant can then file a successive motion for post-conviction relief within one year and the collateral court may properly consider his claim. Retroactivity is only properly litigated in a post-conviction motion filed within the one year period set forth in Rule 3.851(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Bell attempts to persuade this Court to apply this Court's decision in Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1980) and declare Porter retroactive. (IB 37-42). However, a Witt analysis is not appropriate when considering a successive motion for postconviction relief filed outside the one year time limitations. This is so because to file a post-conviction motion outside the one year limitation period of Rule 3.851(d)(1), the new right has to already been declared retroactive to cases on collateral review at the time the motion is filed. Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Even if this were not the case, Witt does not help Bell in his cause because a Witt analysis is only appropriate when new law has been established. Porter is not new law. Porter merely applied Strickland to the facts of Porter's case. See e.g. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1128 (Fla. 2009) (rejecting a similar claim of retroactivity and concluding that the United States Supreme Court in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor,

Bell's post-conviction motion is also procedurally barred because Bell raised, and this Court rejected, this claim in his initial post-conviction proceedings. Marek v. State, 8 So.3d 1123, 1129 (Fla. 2009). Bell is seeking to re-litigate the exact same claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel that he raised in his initial motion for post-conviction Both the collateral court and this Court, on appeal, relief. rejected Bell's claim. Bell v. State, 965 So.2d 48 (Fla. 2007). Bell avers he may re-litigate this claim in light of the Porter decision. Bell is mistaken. This Court has already rejected a similar argument in another case. Marek v. State, 8 So.3d at 1129 (ruling that Marek's attempt to re-litigate his ineffective assistance of counsel claim was procedurally barred because Marek had already raised, and the Florida Supreme rejected, this claim in an earlier post-conviction proceeding and additionally rejecting Marek's suggestion he could relitigate the claim in light of several recent decisions from the United States Supreme Court). As it did in Marek, this Court should conclude Bell's ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim is procedurally barred.

⁵²⁹ U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000) did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland).

Finally, this Court should deny Bell's <u>Porter</u> claim, because Bell's case is singularly without merit. The United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Porter</u> is a narrow one. Porter's case turned on the very powerful mitigation evidence that trial counsel failed to uncover and present during the penalty phase of Porter's capital trial. See <u>Reed v. Secretary</u>, <u>Florida Dept. of Corrections</u>, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16 (11th Cir. 2010) (noting that "the crux of counsel's deficient performance in <u>Porter</u> was the failure to investigate and present Porter's compelling military history.").

At the evidentiary hearing, Porter presented evidence, through the depositions of his brother and sister, that Porter routinely witnessed his father beat his mother, one time so severely that she had to go to the hospital and lost a child. Porter's father was violent every weekend, and by his siblings' account, Porter was his father's favorite target, particularly when Porter tried to protect his mother. On one occasion, Porter's father shot at him for coming home late, but missed and just beat Porter instead. According to his brother, Porter attended classes for slow learners and left school when he was 12 or 13.

Porter also presented evidence that to escape his horrible family life, Porter enlisted in the Army at age 17. fought in the Korean War. His company commander, Lieutenant Colonel Sherman Pratt, testified at Porter's post-conviction hearing. Porter was with the 2d Division, which had advanced above the 38th parallel to Kunu-ri when it was attacked by Chinese forces. Porter suffered a gunshot wound to the leg during the advance but was with the unit for the battle at Kunu-ri. While the Eighth Army was withdrawing, the 2d Division was ordered to hold off the Chinese advance, enabling the bulk of the Eighth Army to live to fight another day. As Colonel Pratt described it, the unit "went into position there in bitter cold night, terribly worn out, terribly weary, almost like zombies because we had been in constant-for five days we had been in constant contact with the enemy fighting our way to the rear, little or no sleep, little or no food, literally as I say zombies." The next morning, the unit engaged in a "fierce handto-hand fight with the Chinese" and later that day received permission to withdraw, making Porter's regiment the last unit of the Eighth Army to withdraw.

Less than three months later, Porter fought in a second battle, at Chip'yong-ni. His regiment was cut off from the rest

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